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OESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL {{F KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

The Chickahominy Shipyard site, at which many ships were constructed for
the Virginia Navy between 1777 and 1781,

. Al-
though the shipyard tract originally consisted of 119 acres of land, much of the
property was purchased for timber supply. Consequently archaeological remains are
confined to the acreage immediately adjacent to the river bank. Beneath the sur-

- faee: of the river lie the remaimsof at least two colonial shipwrecks. (Figure 1)

Test excavations at the Chickabaminy Shipyard @R
reyealed the foundation remains of a structure measuring twelve feet by eighteen feet,
which artifactually dates to the fourth quarter of the eighteenth century. At the
shoreline 336 feet away, the remains of a ship slip were located and found to be
directly in front of the test excavated structure. Three timber skids, submerged
beneath the water, are in an excellent state of preservation. The modernday property
owner has indicated that in 1956 several timbers were removed from this area to
facilitate the construction of a pier. (Figure 2)

WA 2 ski{d ramp for the launching of ships. NS

8 »
it measures fifty-two feet wide uaniennieflSEvENTIIIEVENURNEENE and narrows to
twenty-six feet W NNEEEP. Nine slip timbers, measuring twelve inches by twelve

feet extend thirty-seven feet out into the Chickahominy River. The total width of
the timbered ship area is twenty-six feet. This skid ramp and boat slip appear to be
unaltered since their original construction, although winter ice in the river has
eroded some of the slip timbers. An additional brick foundatia

has been located and superficially tested. (Figure 3)

Just beyond the shipyard launching area lies the remains of two shipwrecks
dating to the fourth. quarter of the eighteenth century. A detailed underwater survey
of one of these wrecks indicates that the ship iIs 100 feet in length by thirty-five
feet in width. Ribs, measuring eight inches in width and five inches in thickness are
placed fourteen inches apart, six to eight feet from the base of the wreck. A ‘

. second shipwreck, lying adjacent, awaits further investigation.

: Artifactual remains found during the underwater survey at the sites in-
cluded wrought nails, cannon balls, barred shot, charred bone, stone ballast, and
a rigging block. Sport divers, who have frequently visited the site over the years
by paying the landowner a small fee for permission to dive, are said to have re-
moved eighteenth century wine bottles, cannon balls, and many other artifacts.

BOUNDARY JUSTIFICATION:

The area nominated to the National Register includes the actual shipyard
area and land containing two prehistoric sites as defined by archaeological survey,as well
the adjacent portion of the Chickahominy River

s Natural boundaries were selected where practicable.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

are the

: substantial archaeological remains of the Chickahominy Shipyard, the site of the state
shipyard of the Virginia Navy during the Revolutionary War. This site consists of |
nautical and dry land cowmponents and represents the only known, essentially intact ar-
chaeological site of its type in the state of Virginia. Shipbuildings activities at
this site are well documented in several primary resources.

Early 1n 1776 the Virginia Committee of Safety decided to establish a small
navy for the protection of the Colony during the impending war. To implement this
plan, on May 6, 1776 they created a Board of Naval Commissionerswho were instructed to
superintend and direct the bullding and repairing of all vessels, to provide the
ordnance, provisions, naval stores and timber necessary to the construction of all
State Navy vessels and to supervise all public ropewalks, dockyards and shipyards.

As part of their duties, the Naval Board was to procure several armed vessels
from owners of the merchant fleet and to seek out suitable locations for the construction
of state shipyards. Several men were dispatched to search for suitable riverine lo-
cations accessible to iron and timber. :

On June 1, 1776, John Herbert, Master Shipbuillder, "was empowered to engage
ship carpenters to examine and view all such places on James River or its branches
as he may think proper and gonvenient for erecting shipyards." 1 He selected a site

on the Chickahominy River

On April 3, 1777, a warrant was issued by the Naval Board for 595 E to be
paid to Phillip Johnson, James Bray Johnson, and Willian Johnson, for a 119 acre tract
in James City County "in behalf of the Commonwealth, for the use of a shipyard on the
Chickahominy River. "2 Virginia GCazette advertisements for adjacent property offered
for sale by the same Messers Johnson Indicate that the area as well timbered and con-
venient to saw and gristmills. As well, the land lay in a relatively sheltered loca-
tion w The river water at that
point, although brackish, would have had 2 reduced saline level, a natural deterent
to the teredo worm incursion which plagued the colonial shipping industry.

Although various French cartographers who carefully mapped the Williamsburg
vicinity failed to specifically designate the shipyard site, an 1823 plat of adjacent
property labels the area "shipyard" and defines its southern and easterm boundaries.
Two maps of James City County, executed in 1863 and 1864 by Confederate cartographer
J.F. Gilmer, identify the area as "Shipyard Landing.” :

(see Continuation Sheet #1)
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On March 22, 1777, Naval Board Commissioner Thomas Whiting notified John
Herbert that the Board has "agreed with W. Pointer...to give him 6 £ 5 shillingsff
month for himself and his Negro men, who are Sssiating in building the necessary
houses at the Shipyard on the Chickahominy." Although extant records do mot describe
precisely what sort of structures stood at the Shipyard, test excavations have re-
vealed the foundation remains of two buildings associated with the site, artifactually
dating to the fourth quarter of the eighteenth century and structurally examples.of
eighteenth century architecture. A sawpit, the residences of the Shipyard superinten-~
dent and the paymaster, and two boatslips are known to be at the Shipyard. Warehouses,
which would have housed naval stores, would be expected to have been located nearby.

Based upon the invoices contained in the Navy Account Book, 1776-1781,
.-8hipbuilding and repair activity at the Chickahominy Shipyard commenced at some point
prior to Jume 3, 1777. Records for that date indicate that numerous coils of rope,
intended for the Scorpion and cable for the Experiment, were sent to the "Shipyard at
Chickahominy." By August 1777 mainsail, careening~fall, skeens of mountline, leadlines,
cordage, and hemp were dispatched to the Shipyard. Much of it was supplied by the
public ropewalk at Warwick. One hundred bushels of coal were purchased for the smithing
operations essential to shipbuiflding. Six crosscut saws and eighteen whipsaw files
were also purchased for the shipyard. Expenditures for various types of materiel, set
down in the Navy Account Book, span the shipyard's entire history and reflect the
scope of its operations.

In an effort the attract shipyard workers, the VirginiaAssembly, on March 7,1778,
decided to exempt from military service all ships carpenters and blacksmiths and the
Joiners and clerks associated with the shipbuilding industry. Although extant records
for the Chickahominy Shipyard fail to disclose the identity of the laborers working
at the Shipyard, a November 8, 1780 order to the Commissary of Stores directs that "a
sufficiency of Winter Clothing for fifteen negro fellows and 2 wenches employed at the
Chickahominy Shipyard™ be provided. 4 A December 7, 1780 letter written by James
Maxwell to the Govermor requested clothing "for 26 men, 52 shirts, 26 jackets and
breeches~stockings, hats, or caps." 5 As well, 18,679 & 14 shillings 6 pence was
sald to be due to the same workmen for their labors of October 1780.

In addition to being furnished their clothing, Chickahominy Shipyard workers
were provided with food. State Navy records indicate that staples such as flour and
corn were regularly supplied to them by the Naval Cormissary. Occasional hogheads of
rum were also earmarked for the use of shipyard employees. A November 8, 1780 record :
indicates that a stove was sent from King George Magazine for the use of the
Shipyard. Because both food and clothing were supplied to these workers, it is quite
probable that many of them resided on the premises.

(see Continuation Sheet #2)
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From its beginning, the Chickahominy Shipyard was under the direction of
Captain James Maxwell, a post which, according the the diary of his daughter, Mary,
he accepted at the personal request of General George Washington. The Maxwell
family resided there until the shipyard was destroyed by fire in 1781. Maxwell
corresponded frequently with the Naval Board and the Governor regarding conditions and
production at the shipyard, thus reflecting its significance in the Virginia military
theatre.

Other supervisory personnel associated with the Chickahominy Shipyard who
appear in Naval records are Johnathan Browne, who served as clerk and paymaster during
the initial years of operation and Issac Smith who succeeded Browne in September 1780.
The agreement between Smith and the Navy Commissioners stated that he would willingly
live at the Shipyard and accept one rations per day for sust enance.

Although John Herbert served as master shipbuilder in 1777 when the shipyard
was established, by 1780, a "William Cole, Builder" was directing vessel construction.
However an April 4, 1781 letter from James Maxwell to the Governor states that "we
have lost cur builder by Death and have employed anouther who seems equallyapable."

State Navy records indicate that the Chickahominy Shipyard was a very
active military installation. The ships Thetls and Jefferson were constructed there
as were many other naval vessels. Numerous Virginia naval craft were also repaired
and outfitted at the Chickshominy Shipyard. Virginia Gazette advertisements for
deserters indicate th gt in October 1778 the galley Safe Guard was docked there and
in September 1779 the ship Tartar was at that locale. During the summer of 1779
the Dragon, the brig Jefferson, and the galley Manly were located at the Shipyard.

In October 1779 the Assembly decided to dispose of several ships including
the Tartar and the Dragon. A July 15, 1780 advertisement in the Virginia Gazette
offers "for ready money the Ships Tartar and Dragon, the said Ships are in very good
repair and tolerably well found." / Correspondence between James’;ixwell and the

Governor on October 1780 indicates that several state vessels werelying in readiness
for mobilization at the Shipyard.

A few months later, on January 16, 1781, Governor Thomas Jefferson wrote
to James Maxwell, enclosing plans for building portable boats as recommended by
General Washington and requesting that twenty of them be built without delay. He
also sdlicited Maxwell's advice regarding any advantageous deaign modificatiouns.
Jefferson ordered the construction of several batkaux to be accomplished by a specialist
in bateau building; these boats were to be used in the James River above the falls.

(see Continuation Sheet #3)




Form No. 10-300a
{Hev. 10-74)

UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR FOR NPS USE ONLY
NATIONAL PARK SERVICE el P

RECEIVE

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES L
INVENTORY -- NOMINATION FORM DATE ENTERED

Chickahominy Shipyard Archaeological Site, James City County, Virginias
CONTINUATION SHEET ITEM NUMBER PAGE

3 8 3

As tension mounted, due to the arrival of the British fleet in the James

River, in January 1781 James Maxwell outfitted the Lewis galley and dispatched her

- down the river; he put guns. aboard the brig Jefferson which had been dismantled for
heaving down. In February he prepared the Jefferson and the Tempest to Join the
French fleet and wrote the Govermoxr that he would also dispatch the Tartar and the
Safe Guard if he could find seamen to man them. As part of the military buildup,
the Liberty and the Nicholson, which had been sunk for concealment in deep holes in
the Nansemond River bottom, were raised and outfitted.

: Edgar Joel obtained permission from the Governor to prepare a fireship to be
sent into the British convoy accompanying Benedict Armold. At the Chickahominy Ship-
yard he raised the decrepit Dragon, which had been underwater for an extended: period
and was consldered to be nearly worthless. His plan was aborted, however, when a
"bungling pilot put the Dragon on a bar and in the interim the British learmed of
Joel's intent.
By March 15, 1781, the Chickahominy Shipyard began to react to the direct

threat imposed by the British. William Cole, in the absence of Captain Maxwell, wrote
to Colonel George Muter stressing the necessity of obtaining arms and ammunition for
the defense of the Shipyard, specifically twenty-five muskets with powder and ball and
requesting the return of the state sloop. On April 4, 1781, James Maxwell informed the
Governor that "by the latter end of this week all the publick stores will be removed
from this place to a store of Col. Dandridge's" and that he had ordered the Tempest
and the Jefferson,up the James to join several private armed vessels. He stationgd

the Lewis galley and the boat Patriot between Hampton Roads and Burwell's Ferry.

In spite of the precautions taken, on April 22, 1781 at four o'clock in the
afternoon a British detachmwent under Lt. Colonel Abercrombie seized and destroyed the
Chickahominy Shipyard. Col. James Innes, writing to theGovernor stated that "from the
fire discovered-in that quarter last night they have totally destroyed it." 9 The
following day, Innes again wrote that "they destroyed the vessels and buildings at
the shipyard and some naval stores at Diascon (biascuni] Bridge." 10 some naval
stores were sunk aboard the Lewis galley which Lt. Saunders had elected to scuttle
vwhen he was unable to outmaneuver the enemy. Governor Jefferson informed George
Washington and Congress that in the destruction of the shipyard the British had burned
an unfinished twenty=gun ship on the stocks there. : '

The Chickahominy Shipyard was never to be rebullt. According to the Journal
of Council of the State of Virginia, in 1784 the decision was made to remove all
uninjured cannon from the Shipyard and Diascund Bridge to Richmond and that any broken
cannon and other public property be sold to the public. Two years later a report to
Governor Henry stated that "two good eighteen pound spiked iron cannon and a considerable

(see Continuation Sheet #1)
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quantity of ball were at Chickahominy Shipyard and that three eighteen pounders, five
swivel cannon, six six~pounders and five four pounders were at Diascund Bridge.' 11
The latter eleven cannon were congidered damaged.

_ A June 4, 1804 letter from John Clarke to the Governor states that "there are
several pleces of iron ordinance at the Shipyard," among which are one eighteen pounder
and one twelve pounder. He adds that he was told that when the British attack commenced,
"several pleces ofzcannon were throwninto a sawpit near the said shipyard, where they
now lie buried.” As well, four or five pieces remained at Diascund.

Except for late nineteenth century deed references to the shipyard tract, the
Chickahominy Shipyard slipped into obscurity. The shipyard land was purchased by the
Warren famlly, whose descandantsowned it until 1894 when 100 acres, which included the
shipyard construction site, was purchased by George Menzel, a German immigrant. In
subsequent years Menzel family members acquired several hundred acres surrounding the
original purchase of their immigrant ancestor. .

The Chickahominy shipyard site is significant because it 1s the only intact
state shipyard site in a state which uniquely had its own navy. Although Virginia
navy ships were also comstructed at Gosport in Norfolk, all traces of the Gosport
shipyard have been destroyed by subsequent construction.

Archaeological excavation of the Chickahominy Shipyard site would be likely
to yleld previously unavailable information regarding shipbuilding technique in
colonial Virginia withina tightly circumscribed time period. Such an excavation
would provide a unique opportunity to study military maritime architecture from
several perspectives, the actual construction areas as well as the sunken shipwrecks
adjacent to the shipyard, which exemplify the type of ships built for the Virginia Navy.
Excavations of the dry land components would also be expected to yield considerable
insight into the life ways of workers in an eighteenth century shipbuilding complex.

As a military site which figured. significantly in the outcome of the Revolu-
tionary Waxr in Tidewater Virginia, preservation of this important site, which is
currently threatened by both erosion and the incursion of sport divers, would be
encouraged by the placement of this property on the National Register of Historic
Places. Because it lies in a remote, little developed area, it offers an excellent
opportunity for in situ preservation.

(see Continuation Sheet #5)
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